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July 8, 2022 

 

 

Kendra Amaral 

Town Manager 

Town of Kittery 

200 Rogers Road 

Kittery, Maine 03904 

 

 

  

 

Re: Review of Voter Petition 

 

Dear Kendra: 

 

You have asked me to provide a review of the proposed voter petition submitted to the Town on 

June 13, 2022 entitled “Shall the Inhabitants of the Town of Kittery repeal Kittery Town Code 

Title 16, Land Use and Development, §16.3.2.10, Mixed-Use-Neighborhood, MU-N ordinance 

(lined out copy attached) herewith and replace with the original Business Park Zone ordinance 

(underlined copy attached) with immediate effect?” (“the Petitioned Ordinance”).  I understand 

that the Town Clerk certified the voter petition and it has been forwarded to the Town Council 

for further action pursuant to Section11.01 of the Town Charter. A copy of the Petitioned 

Ordinance is attached to this letter. 

 

As an initial matter, review of a petitioned ordinance is governed by Section 11.02(2) of the 

Charter which reads as follows: 

 

Any such proposed ordinance must be examined by an attorney for the town 

before it is submitted to the voters.  The attorney is authorized to correct the form 

of such proposed ordinance for the purpose of avoiding repetitions, illegalities and 

unconstitutional provisions, and to assure accuracy in its text and references and 

clarity and precision in its phraseology, but may not materially change its 

meaning and effect. 

 

Under the standard of examination outlined in the above Charter provision, I offer the following 

comments on the Petitioned Ordinance: 
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• Code References 

 

o As a general comment, the Land Use and Development Code was amended and 

re-codified on January 24, 2022, and the Petitioned Ordinance uses outdated code 

references that should be corrected (see below for further details). 

 

• Addition of Section 16.3.2.10 Business-Park B-P District 

 

o Re-codification.  This proposed ordinance language establishing a new (or 

restored) B-P base zone should be corrected to reflect references to the current 

codification system, either by renumbering it to Section 16.4.23 (et seq.) to 

replace the proposed elimination of the Mixed-Use Zone, or through a new 

Section 16.4-31 (et. seq.) 

 

o Permitted uses (Section 16.3.2.10(B)).  The proposed language includes reference 

to a number of uses that have been since renamed and defined in the existing 

Ordinance.  Some of those references can be corrected to re-name them without 

changing the meaning and effect, while others cannot be corrected since they 

include substantive differences from the existing terms. 

▪ Specifically, the Council can make the following corrections without 

changing the meaning and effect: 

• (e) “Commercial parking lot or parking garage” should be changed 

to “Parking area (public or private)” 

• (h) “Grocery, food store, convenience store, including gas station” 

should be changed to “Retail sales and “Retail sales convenience 

store” 

• (n) “Place of public assembly, including theater” should be 

changed to “Public Assembly area, theater” 

• (t) “Retail uses and wholesale businesses excluding used car lots 

and junkyards” should be changed to “Wholesale businesses 

excluding used car lots” 

▪ The following should remain, although it is worth noting that the proposed 

uses differ somewhat from the existing terminology: 

• “School (including day nursery), university, museum, hospital, 

municipal or state building or use, church, or any other institution 

of educational, religious, philanthropic, fraternal, political, or 

social nature” 

o Standards (Section 16.3.2.10(D)).  There are several internal references to re-

codified or renamed provisions that should be corrected as follows: 

▪ In the first paragraph, the phrase “Article XI Cluster Residential and 

Cluster Mixed-Use Development” should be corrected to “Section 

16.8.10(H), Cluster residential development”. 
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▪ In the first paragraph, the phrase “Article II, Master Site Development 

Plan” should be corrected to “Chapter 16.6, Master Site Development 

Plan”. 

▪ In Subsection D(1), the reference to “Chapters 16.8 and 16.9” should be 

corrected to “Chapters 16.5, 16.7, and 16.8”. 

▪ In Subsection D(3), the reference to “Article XI of Chapter 16.8” should 

be corrected to “Section 16.8.10(H), Cluster residential development” and 

the phrase “Ordained 9-28-15” should be deleted. 

▪ In Subsection D(4)(c), reference to “Chapter 16.8” should be corrected to 

“Chapters 16.4, 16.5, and 16.8”. 

 

• Deletion of Section 16.3.2.10 Mixed-Use Neighborhood MU-N District 

 

o Deletion of MU-N District.  This proposed ordinance language that would delete 

the MU-N District regulations should be corrected to reflect references to the 

current codification system by renumbering it to Section 16.4.26 (et seq.) and 

include the current version to ensure accuracy in its text and references as 

permitted by the Charter.  I would note, however, that the existing MU-N District 

contains several differences from the prior version of the District that the 

petitioners purport to eliminate, but it is clear from the petition language itself that 

the intent was to eliminate the MU-U in its entirety. 

 

• Zoning Map 

 

o The Petitioned Ordinance does not include any proposed amendments to the 

Town’s Zoning Map nor does it reference the Map in the petition itself.  A Zoning 

Map must be separately amended pursuant to the provisions in state law and must 

describe each zone established (which can also be provided by description by 

metes and bounds.) 30-A M.R.S. § 4352(3) & (9). Thus, if enacted, the Petitioned 

Ordinance would adopt new B-P District regulations and eliminate the existing 

MU-N District regulations, while the areas currently zoned as MU-N will remain 

and there would be no areas zoned B-P.  This will create confusion in potentially 

unregulated zoning areas and should be addressed by the Council with a future 

Zoning Map amendment.  

 

In conclusion, except as it relates to any amendment to the Zoning Map, I recommend that the 

Council make the minor corrections to the Petitioned Ordinance outlined above to assure 

accuracy in its text and references and clarity and precision in its phraseology.  I did not find any 

repetitive, illegal, or unconstitutional provisions.   

 

If enacted, however, I recommend that the Council subsequently adopt amendments to the 

Zoning Map to clarify where the new B-P District is located and to rezone any area currently 

zoned as MU-N.  The Council also has the authority to enact a moratorium to give it time to 

work on such an amendment if it determines that such a moratorium is necessary to prevent a 
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shortage or overburden of public facilities or because the existing ordinance is inadequate to 

prevent serious public harm from development in the affected zone. 30-A M.R.S. § 4356 

 

I hope this is helpful, and please let me know if you have any further questions. 

 

Sincerely, 

 
Philip R. Saucier 

 

 

PRS/ree 

Enclosures 
























































